RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

05-10-2013

COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSINLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2013AP299-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

VS.

MICAH J. SNYDER,

Defendant-Respondent,

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-- APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR COLUMBIA COUNTY, BRANCH I, THE HON. DANIEL S. GEORGE, PRESIDING

Respectfully submitted,

The State of Wisconsin,
Plaintiff-Appellant
Columbia County District Attorney
Attorney for the Plaintiff
400 Dewitt Street
Portage, WI 53901
(608) 742-9650

BY: TROY D. CROSS

Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1026116

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The issue on appeal in this case is whether when Trooper Larson pulled into the parking lot of the closed town hall, stopped his vehicle without activating his emergency lights or siren, and walked up to the defendant's vehicle, did Trooper Larson seize the defendant?

TRIAL COURT'S ANSWER

The Trial Court answered this question, yes, this was a seizure. (R. 29, page 6, lines 4-11).

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State would request the opportunity to present oral argument in this case, if the Court would feel that it would be appropriate, to help further define the issues and to clear up any questions that the Court may have.

The State does not request that this case be published since it is apparent that this is a one-judge review, therefore, publication would not be available.

I. FACTS

The Facts in the case are contained in the transcript of the motion to suppress hearing that was held on December 3, 2012. (R. 28). Trooper Larson saw the defendant's vehicle drive past his location on Hwy. 188 in Columbia County around 11:30 at night. (R. 28, pages 3-4). Trooper Larson had seen this same vehicle going the other way about 10 minutes earlier. (R. 28, page 8, line 10). The second time that Trooper Larson saw this vehicle, the vehicle pulled into the West Point town hall and parked. (R. 28, page 4).

The defendant had parked in the parking area of the town hall. Trooper Larson pulled into the driveway of the town hall and stopped in an area that was 30 feet wide, where the driveway meets the parking lot. (R. 28, page 5). Trooper Larson estimated that he was one to two car lengths in front of the defendant's vehicle when he parked, which was 12-24 feet away. (R. 28, page 5). Trooper Larson sat in his car for a short time before he got out and approached the defendant's vehicle. (R. 28, page 6, lines 5-6). Trooper Larson did not activate his emergency lights or his siren before he walked up to the defendant's vehicle. (R. 28, page 6). Trooper Larson also agreed that there was conservatively 20 feet beside his car on the driveway where the defendant could have driven past him. (R. 28, page 7).

II. QUESTION PRESENTED

The question presented in this appeal is whether when Trooper Larson pulled into the parking lot of the closed town hall, stopped his vehicle without activating his emergency lights or siren, and walked up to the defendant's vehicle, did Trooper Larson seize the defendant? The standard of review for this type of case was stated in the *Williams* case.

"Whether evidence should be suppressed is a question of constitutional fact." *State v. Knapp*, 2005 WI 127, para. 19, 285 Wis.2d 86, 700 N.W.2d 899 (citation omitted). A finding of constitutional fact consists of the circuit court's findings of historical fact, and its application of those historical facts to constitutional principles. *See State v. Turner*, 136 Wis.2d 333, 343-44, 401 N.W.2d 827 (1987). We review the former under the clearly erroneous standard and the latter *de novo. See id.*¹

The trial court, in this case, held that the officer's actions did rise to the level of a seizure.

The court considers that the actions of the officer did constitute a seizure in this case. He pulled up in such a fashion that for the defendant to have left, he would have had to make a significant effort to go around the vehicle of the officer. The driveway was approximately two car lengths in width I believe was the testimony.

But given the positioning of the officer's vehicle, the marked squad status, the uniformed officer approaching the defendant parked in this position, there is absolutely no question in the court's opinion that the officer was intending to exercise some degree of control over the defendant and had effectuated a seizure. (R. 29, page 6, lines 4-19).

6

-

¹ State v. Williams, 323 Wis.2d 460, 467; 781 N.W.2d 495, 498-99 (Wis. Ct. App. 2010).

III. TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS ARE CLEARLY ERRONEOUS

The appellant disagrees with the trial court's findings of fact in this case and would argue that some of them are clearly erroneous. The trial court stated that "the driveway was approximately two car lengths in width I believe was the testimony." (R. 29, page 6, lines 9-11). The appellant was not able to find that the driveway was two car lengths in width, anywhere in the transcript of the motion hearing, which is number 28 of the record.

The appellant did find references to how wide the driveway was in the record. Trooper Larson testified that he had measured the driveway the day before the motion hearing and that it was 30 feet wide at the point where the driveway meets the main parking lot. (R. 28, page 5, lines 7-8). Trooper Larson testified that he was on the right side of the driveway when he parked. (R. 28, page 5, line 12). Trooper Larson estimated that his car width, from mirror tip to mirror tip was probably 6 feet. (R. 28, page 6, lines 16-17). And Trooper Larson agreed that conservatively, there would have been easily 20 feet of space that the defendant could have passed him in. (R. 28, page 7, lines 1-4).

On cross examination, during the motion hearing, defense counsel asked if the driveway narrowed from the 30 foot measurement, as it met the street and

Trooper Larson disagreed stating that he thought that it widened. (R. 28, page 10, lines 19-25).

The only reference to two car lengths, that the appellant was able to find in the record, was when Trooper Larson testified that he parked his vehicle facing the defendant's vehicle, and he estimated that there was one to two car lengths between the two vehicles. (R. 28, page 5). Trooper Larson went on to state that he estimated that a car length was about 12 feet so that he would have been parked between 12 – 24 feet in front of the defendant's vehicle. (R. 28, page 5).

The trial court also stated that the defendant would have had to make a significant effort to go around the vehicle of the officer. (R. 29, page 6, lines 7-9). The appellant disagrees with this. Trooper Larson was the only witness to testify at the motion hearing. His testimony is uncontroverted. With Trooper Larson's vehicle being parked between 12-24 feet in front of the defendant's vehicle, with at least 20 feet, or three plus car widths, the defendant could have easily driven around and past Trooper Larson, if he had chosen to do so. The defendant would not have even had to back up as they were facing each other, with the defendant's vehicle facing out toward the road. (R. 28, page 4, lines 17-19).

Finally, the court's opinion that the, "officer was intending to exercise some degree of control over the

defendant and had effectuated a seizure" (R. 29, page 6), is not the proper legal standard to apply. The Supreme Court of Colorado stated the appropriate standard in the *Walters* case which cited to the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Whren*.

In this case, the record facts show that the encounter between Officer Portillo and the defendant, including the request to search the defendant's vehicle, was not an investigatory stop but a consensual encounter.

Officer Portillo did not pull over the defendant's vehicle but initiated contact after the defendant had already parked, exited the vehicle, and raised its hood. Therefore, the contact between Officer Portillo and the defendant did not automatically rise to the level of an investigatory stop, and, hence, we must determine whether the encounter was "so intimidating as to demonstrate that a reasonable person would believe he was not free to leave." Hill, 929 P.2d at 739.

Although Officer Portillo initiated contact with the defendant because he suspected him of having drugs in his vehicle, **the subjective intent of the officer in initiating the contact is not relevant for Fourth Amendment purposes**. *Marujo*, 192 P.3d at 1006 (citing *Whren*, 517 U.S. at 813-14, 116 S.Ct. 1769).² (Emphasis added).

IV. CASE LAW

The United States Supreme Court, in the Mendenhall case set out what is required before a seizure takes place. The Supreme Court held:

We adhere to the view that a person is "seized" only when, by means of physical force or a show of authority, his freedom of movement is restrained. Only when such restraint is imposed is there any foundation whatever for invoking constitutional safeguards. The purpose of the Fourth

9

² People v. Walters, 249 P.3d 805, 810 (Colo. 2011).

Amendment is not to eliminate all contact between the police and the citizenry, but "to prevent arbitrary and oppressive interference by enforcement officials with the privacy and personal security of individuals." *United States v. Martinez-Fuerte*, 428 U.S. 543, 554, 96 S.Ct. 3074, 3081, 49 L.Ed.2d 1116. As long as the person to whom questions are put remains free to disregard the questions and walk away, there has been no intrusion upon the person's liberty or privacy as would under the Constitution require some particularized and objective justification.

Moreover, characterizing every street encounter between a citizen and the police as a "seizure," while not enhancing any interest secured by the Fourth Amendment, would impose wholly unrealistic restrictions upon a wide variety of legitimate law enforcement practices. The Court has on other occasions referred to the acknowledged need for police questioning as a tool in the effective enforcement of the criminal laws. "Without such investigation, those who were innocent might be falsely accused, those who were guilty might wholly escape prosecution, and many crimes would go unsolved. In short, the security of all would be diminished. Haynes v. Washington, 373 U.S. 503, 515, [83 S.Ct. 1336, 1344, 10 L.Ed. 513]." Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S., at 225, 93 S.Ct., at 2046.

We conclude that a person has been "seized" within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment only if, in the view of all of the circumstances surrounding the incident, a reasonable person would have believed that he was not free to leave. (fn6) Examples of circumstances that might indicate a seizure, even where the person did not attempt to leave, would be the threatening presence of several officers, the display of a weapon by an officer, some physical touching of the person of the citizen, or the use of language or tone of voice indicating that compliance with the officer's request might be compelled. ...

In the absence of some such evidence, otherwise inoffensive contact between a member of the public and the police cannot, as a matter of law, amount to a seizure of that person.

FN6 We agree with the District Court that the subjective intention of the DEA agent in this case to detain the respondent, had she attempted to leave, is irrelevant except insofar as that may have been conveyed to the respondent.

On the facts of this case, no "seizure" of the respondent occurred. The events took place in the public concourse. The agents wore no uniforms and displayed no weapons. They did not summon the respondent to their presence, but instead approached her and identified themselves as federal agents. They requested, but did not demand to see the respondent's identification and ticket. Such conduct without more, did not amount to an intrusion upon any constitutionally protected interest. The respondent was not seized simply by reason of the fact that the agents approached her, asked her if she would show them her ticket and identification, and posed to her a few questions. Nor was it enough to establish a seizure that the person asking the questions was a law enforcement official. ...

In short, nothing in the record suggests that the respondent had any objective reason to believe that she was not free to end the conversation in the concourse and proceed on her way, and for that reason we conclude that the agents' initial approach to her was not a seizure.

Our conclusion that no seizure occurred is not affected by the fact that the respondent was not expressly told by the agents that she was free to decline to cooperate with their inquiry, for the voluntariness of her responses doe not depend upon her having been so informed. See Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, supra. We also reject the argument that the only inference to be drawn from the fact that the respondent acted in a manner so contrary to her self-interest is that she was compelled to answer the agents' questions. It may happen that a person makes statements to law enforcement officials that he later regrets, but the issue in such cases is not whether the statement was self-protective, but rather whether it was made voluntarily. (Mendenhall 446 U.S. 544 at 553-56; 100 S.Ct. 1870 at 1877-78 (1980).

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has agreed, that the *Mendenhall* case is the one to use in situations where a person does not run away from an officer who requests to speak with the person. The Wisconsin Supreme Court stated in *State v. Young*:

Mendenhall is the appropriate test for situations where the question is whether a person submitted to a police show of authority because, under all the circumstances surrounding the incident, a reasonable person would not have felt free to leave. If a reasonable person would have felt free to leave but the person at issue nonetheless remained in police presence, perhaps because of a desire to be cooperative, there is no seizure. As this court noted in Williams, "most citizens will respond to a police request," and "the fact that people do so, and do so without being told they are fee not to respond, hardly eliminates the consensual nature of the response." Williams, 255 Wis.2d 1, para. 23, 646 N.W.2d 834 (quoting Delgado, 466 U.S. at 216, 104 S.Ct. 1758). State v. Young, 294 Wis.2d 1 at 25; 717 N.W.2d 729 at 741 (2006).

In addition to the above cited case law from the United States Supreme Court and from the Wisconsin Supreme Court on the issue of when someone is seized per the 4th amendment, there are numerous cases from other jurisdictions, which are persuasive in this area.

One example from the State of Idaho occurred in the *Baker* case. In this case, Officer Marshall followed a vehicle at 2:00 in the morning.³ Officer Marshall followed the vehicle for about a quarter of a mile before the vehicle pulled into a cul-de-sac and parked in front of another car after it had briefly stopped next to the

٠

³ State v. Baker, 141 Idaho 163; 107 P.3d 1214 (Idaho 2005).

car.4 Officer Marshall had not observed any law violations up to this point.⁵ Officer Marshall pulled in behind the car, did not activate his overhead lights, but did activate his spot light briefly into the driver's side of the car and then into the rear window of the car, before he made contact with the occupants of the vehicle.⁶

In this case, the trial court ruled that the use of the spotlight to illuminate the car was a display of authority, "sufficient to create a detention under the Fourth Amendment."⁷ The trial court then suppressed the evidence because the detention was not supported by reasonable suspicion.8

The Idaho Court of Appeal overturned this decision and held that the officer's use of the spotlight did not make this a seizure.9 The Idaho Supreme Court agreed and held that this was not a seizure. 10

Another example, from the State of California, is the *Perez* case. In this case, a San Jose police officer was on patrol in the evening, when he saw two people parked, in an unlit vehicle, in a motel parking lot. 11 The officer positioned his car head on with the defendant's vehicle, but he left enough room for the defendant to drive away. 12 The officer did not activate his emergency lights, but he did activated his high beam lights and spot

⁴ *Id.*

⁵ *Id.*

⁷ 141 Idaho 163, 164; 107 P.3d 1214, 1215 (2005).

⁹ *Id.*

¹¹ *People v. Perez*, 211 Cal.App.3d 1492 (Cal. Ct. App., 1989).

lights on both sides of the car so that he could see into the vehicle better. 13 The Court of Appeals in California ruled that there was no detention that took place in this case.14

An example from the State of Oregon is from the Calhoun case. In this case, an officer saw a vehicle go by him in a park at about 3 a.m.. 15 About ten minutes later, the officer saw the same vehicle, parked in a parking area with one person in it.¹⁶ The officer stopped about 30 feet behind the vehicle and left his headlights and spot light on, but he did not activate his emergency lights.¹⁷ Both the trial court and the court of appeals held that this was not a stop. 18

An example from the State of North Dakota is from the Halfmann case. In this case, an officer saw a vehicle driving on a gravel road at about 1:00 a.m., that was weaving, but he chose not to stop the vehicle because some degree of weaving was normal when driving on a gravel road. 19 The vehicle subsequently pulled over to the shoulder of the road and stopped.²⁰ The officer also stopped, waited a few seconds, and then pulled in behind the defendant's vehicle.²¹ The officer activated his amber lights, got out of his vehicle,

¹² *Id.*

¹³ *Id.*

¹⁵ State v. Calhoun, 101 Or.App. 622; 792 P.2d 1223 (Or. Ct. App. 1990).

¹⁹ State v. Halfmann, 518 N.W.2d 729, 730 (N.D. 1994).

²¹ *Id*.

walked up to the defendant's vehicle, and made contact with the defendant.²² In this case, the Supreme Court of North Dakota held, "We agree with the trial court's finding that a Fourth Amendment 'stop' did not occur, thereby negating the 'reasonable and articulable suspicion' requirement."²³

V. CONCLUSION

Given the uncontroverted facts that Trooper Larson testified to in this case; that he did not activate any emergency lights or siren, that the defendant never attempted to leave, that Trooper Larson was the only officer present, that Trooper Larson did not draw or display a weapon, that Trooper Larson did not touch the defendant, and that Trooper Larson did not use any language or tone of voice that was compelling (R. 28), this Court should rule that the defendant was not seized under these facts and overrule the trial court's decision in this case.

The trial court in this case put too much emphasis on Trooper Larson's subjective intent. Trooper Larson's subjective intent was irrelevant unless it was conveyed to the defendant, which in this case did not happen. When Trooper Larson pulled into the parking lot, we do not even know for sure that the defendant knew that this was a police officer's car, since the defendant never did

²³ *Id.*

²² Id.

testify at the motion hearing. We cannot infer that he knew this because it was dark out and the area was not really well illuminated as there were only a couple of overhead lights and there was no testimony as to where these lights were located. (R. 28, pages 4-5).

Trooper Larson stopped his vehicle between 12-24 feet in front of the defendant's vehicle with at least 20 feet beside him to pass him. (R. 28). Trooper Larson waited for a few seconds before he got out of his vehicle. (R. 28). If the defendant had wanted to leave, he could have done so at that point. Trooper Larson then walked up to the defendant's vehicle and the defendant was still free to leave if he had chosen to do so. Any person in this situation would have or should have felt that he or she was free to leave because the officer²⁴ had not done anything to indicate that the person was not free to leave.

Not every encounter between police and citizens implicates Fourth Amendment concerns because a "seizure" does not occur until a police officer has restrained the liberty of the citizen. *People v. Marujo*, 192 P.3d 1003, 1005 (Colo.2008). ...

While an investigatory stop constitutes a seizure implicating the Fourth Amendment's safeguards, and therefore must be justified by reasonable suspicion, a consensual encounter does not. *Id.* A consensual encounter is one "in which no restraint of the liberty of the citizen is elicited through non-coercive questioning." *People v. Johnson*, 865 P.2d 836, 842 (Colo.1994). The test for determining if the encounter is a consensual one is "whether a reasonable person under the circumstances would believe he or she was free to leave and/or to disregard the official's

_

²⁴ This assumes that a reasonable person in this situation would have even been able to see that the person approaching was a police officer.

request for information." *People v. Thomas*, 839 P.2d 1174, 1177-78 (Colo.1992). This test "presupposes an innocent person." *Johnson*, 865 P.2d at 842 (quoting *Florida v. Bostick*, 501 U.S. 429, 438, 111 S.Ct. 2382, 115 L.Ed.2d 389 (1991)).²⁵

For all of the above mentioned reasons, the State asks that this Court overrule the trial court's decision.

The State asks that this Court send this case back to the trial court for further proceedings not inconsistent with the Court's holding.