STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

RECEIVED

08-06-2013

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 13 AP 299 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

VS.

MICAH J. SNYDER,

Defendant-Respondent.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR COLUMBIA COUNTY, BRANCH I, THE HONORABLE DANIEL S. GEORGE PRESIDING.

Respectfully submitted,

MICAH J. SNYDER, Defendant-Respondent

VAN WAGNER & WOOD, S.C. Attorneys for the Defendant-Respondent One North Pinckney Street, Suite 300 Madison, Wisconsin 53703 (608) 284-1200

BY: TRACEY A. WOOD State Bar No. 1020766

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Standard of Review
- II. The Trial Court's findings of fact were not clearly erroneous.
- III. The Trial Court correctly found that a seizure occurred.
- IV. Even if Trooper Larson's initial conduct did not qualify as a seizure, he lacked reasonable suspicion to expand his contact with Snyder into an OWI investigation.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Defendant-appellant does not request publication of the opinion in this appeal.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument would be appropriate in this case only if the Court concludes that the briefs have not fully presented the issues being raised on appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

As respondent, Snyder exercises his option not to present a full statement of the case. Wis. Stat. § 809.19(3)(a)2. Snyder will present additional facts in the "Argument" portion of his brief.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review.

"The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect the people from unreasonable searches and seizures." *State v. Young*, 2006 WI 98, ¶ 18, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729. "Whether a person has been seized is a question of constitutional fact." *Id.*, ¶ 17. The reviewing Court will uphold the trial court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous, but will determine independently whether a seizure occurred." *Id.* Police citizen contact generally becomes a seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment when an officer by means of physical force or show of authority, has in some way restrained the liberty of a citizen." *Id.*, ¶ 18.

II. The Trial Court's findings of fact were not clearly erroneous.

The State argues that the trial court made the clearly erroneous finding that the driveway was two car lengths in width after Trooper Larson's car was parked along the edge. State Br. at 7. Trooper Larson testified that the driveway was 30 feet wide. R. 28, p. 5. He testified that his car was six feet wide from mirror to mirror. R. 28, p. 6. He estimated that his car was about 12 feet in length.

R. 28, p. 5. If Trooper Larson's car occupied six feet on the side of the driveway there were 24 feet remaining, which is precisely two 12 foot car lengths in width. The trial court's "two car lengths in width" finding of fact is consistent with Trooper Larson's testimony that the driveway was 30 feet wide. The squad vehicle was not even parked all the way to the right side of the driveway, so there was even less footage. The officer estimated 20 feet.

The State also argues that the trial court erred when it found that the officer intended to exercise control over the defendant and had effectuated a seizure. State Br. at 9. Although the State identifies these as findings of fact, they are legal conclusions of the court. *See infra*.

III. The Trial Court correctly found that a seizure occurred.

A seizure occurs "if, in view of all the circumstances surrounding the incident, a reasonable person would have believed he was not free to leave." *Young*, 2006 WI 98, ¶¶ 3, 29, *citing United States v. Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. 544, 554 (1980). The trial court considered the totality of the circumstances including the relative position of the two cars, that Trooper Larson was uniformed, that his car was marked, and the fact that Snyder would have had to drive around both Trooper Larson and his car, and that Snyder was

identified by the officer. R. 29, p. 6. Trooper Larson's car was as little as twelve feet away from Snyder's car, parked "headlight to headlight." *Id.* Trooper Larson approached across that intervening space towards the front of Snyder's car. A reasonable person could see a police officer approaching within 10 feet of the front of his or her vehicle and conclude that he was not free to leave. The parking lot was lit, and the squad was a fully marked squad car. Not only would Snyder have to drive around the officer and his car, he might reasonably be concerned that Trooper Larson could interpret the car moving forward as a threat of physical harm.

The officer drove his car into the only driveway to the parking lot directly facing Snyder's vehicle. Snyder would have had to maneuver his car around the officer's to get out of the parking lot. The officer was driving a fully marked squad and was in uniform. The officer could not remember if the window was down but believed it was. There was no testimony indicating he did not ask Snyder to roll down his window. The officer admits to asking Snyder what he was doing there. R. 28, p. 7. Whenever a police officer shows his authority by requesting an answer or acquiescence of some nature (such as the showing of identification or answering of questions), an investigatory detention ensues. See: *Hiibel v. Sixth*

Judicial District Court of Nevada, 542 U.S. 177 (2004). That detention needs to be supported by reasonable suspicion to be lawful.

In *California v. Hodari*, 499 U.S. 621 (1991), the United States Supreme Court held that an individual's acquiescence to police authority constitutes a seizure. Here, Snyder answered the officer's questions willingly. The *Hodari* court noted also as follows:

While the concept of a 'seizure' of property is not much discussed in our cases, this definition follows from our oft-repeated definition of the 'seizure' of a person within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment—meaningful interference, however brief, with an individual's freedom of movement. See *Michigan v. Summers*, 452 U.S. 692, 696 [101 S.Ct. 2587, 2590, 69 L.Ed.2d 340] (1981).

This was a brief but meaningful interference with Snyder's freedom. Clearly, blocking a car even a bit from leaving, walking up to the car, possibly having the suspect roll down the window, demanding an explanation of what he is doing there, and identifying him is a show of authority. That show of authority must be justified by reasonable suspicion of a crime or some other exception to the warrant requirement.

Trooper Larson could not recall details about the lowering of the window, and there was no testimony as to whether or not it was at his behest. He did approach in full uniform with a flashlight illuminated. The first thing he did was make Snyder tell him what he was doing. The State does not challenge the trial court's finding that the officer asked for identification, and the officer did so testify. R. 28, p. 3, 7.

In County of Grant v. Vogt, the Court found that a seizure had occurred when a police officer approached a parked car, knocked on the window, and instructed the driver to roll down the window. 2013 WI App 55, ¶ 13, 347 Wis. 2d 551, 830 N.W.2d 723 (unpublished but cited for persuasive authority pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3)). The court found a seizure despite the fact that the officer had not activated his emergency lights, did not display a weapon, and did not use "strong language or an inordinate tone of voice." *Id.*, ¶ 12. In this case we also have a police officer approaching a parked car, possibly directing the driver to roll down the window, and then requiring the driver to tell him what he was doing, as in *Vogt*, in addition to parking his car in a way that restricted or appeared to restrict the driver's ability to simply drive away from the encounter. A reasonable person in these circumstances could conclude he was not free to leave.

The State argues that the judge applied the wrong legal standard when it found that Trooper Larson intended to exercise

some degree of control over the defendant. R. 29, p. 6. It is true that the officer's subjective intent is not relevant for determining whether a seizure has occurred. *Whren v. United States*, 517 U.S. 806, 813-14, 116 S.Ct. 1769 (1996). However, the officer's subjective intent is relevant to whether Trooper Larson was approaching Snyder in his community caretaker role, an issue that was very much in contention at the trial court level. The State does not argue that community caretaker justified this seizure. The court's finding that a seizure occurred does not rest on Trooper Larson's subjective intent, but on the totality of the circumstances created by the aforementioned objective facts relating to Trooper Larson wearing a uniform, having a marked squad car, and the relative positions of the vehicles and

[&]quot;[W]hen a community caretaker function is asserted as justification for the seizure of a person, the trial court must determine: (1) that a seizure within the meaning of the fourth amendment has occurred; (2) if so, whether the police conduct was a bona fide community caretaker activity; and (3) if so, whether the public need and interest outweigh the intrusion upon the privacy of the individual." *State v. Anderson*, 142 Wis. 2d 162, 169, 417 N.W.2d 411 (Ct. App. 1987), *rev'd on other grounds*, 155 Wis. 2d 77, 454 N.W.2d 763 (1990).

When evaluating whether the police conduct was a "bona fide" community caretaker activity, the Supreme Court has held that "when a search is not supported by probable cause or reasonable suspicion and it is contended that the reasonableness of police conduct stands on other footing, an officer's subjective motivation is a factor that may warrant consideration." Id., ¶ 30.

Because the trial court was called on to consider the community caretaker rationale for the stop, it was not erroneous for the court to make a finding about the officer's subjective intent. The State has not argued the community caretaker argument on appeal. Arguments not raised on appeal are waived. *See Reiman Assocs., Inc. v. R/A Advertisting*, 102 Wis. 2d 305, 306 n.1, 306 N.W.2d 292 (Ct. App. 1981) (an issue not briefed or argued is deemed abandoned).

people. Additionally, as noted in *Mendenhall*, *supra*, the subjective intent of the officer is relevant to the extent that intent was conveyed to Snyder. The trial court found that this officer intended to exercise authority and control, and his actions conveyed that intent.

Although the State cites several cases from other jurisdictions, none of the cited cases involve the same or a similar fact pattern. In each of these out of state cases, courts found that shining headlights or spotlights into a parked car did not constitute a seizure. State v. Baker, 107 P.3d 1214, 1216 (Idaho 2005) (officer's use of spotlight to illuminate a parked vehicle does not constitute a show of authority); People v. Perez, 211 Cal.App.3d 1492 (Cal. Ct. App., 1989) (spotlights did not constitute a show of authority; officer was only justified in approaching vehicle on foot because passengers were unresponsive); State v. Calhoun, 792 P.2d 1223, 1225 (Or. Ct. App. 1990) (headlights and spotlight from patrol car 30 feet behind defendant's car were not show of authority); State v. Halfmann, 518 N.W.2d 729, 730 (N.D. 1994) (headlights did not constitute show of authority; police action upheld under community caretaker role). Snyder does not argue that Trooper Larson used the lights on his police cruiser to effect a stop nor that the use of his flashlight, in and

of itself, would induce a reasonable person to believe he or she was not free to go.

There is persuasive authority from other jurisdictions that more closely hews to the facts of this case. The Superior Court of Pennsylvania suppressed an arrest in a case factually similar to the case at bar. *Commonwealth v. Mulholland*, 794 A.2d 398, 402 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2002). In *Mulholland*, the officer observed a parked car with its running lights on and went to investigate, positioning his patrol car to make it difficult for the defendant to drive away. *Id.*When the officer spoke to the driver, the driver provided a reasonable explanation for why he was parked, after which the officer noticed the scent of marijuana and ultimately made an arrest. *Id.*

The case at bar is more analogous to *Mulholland* than the cases cited by the State based on the totality of the facts in the record. Trooper Larson parked his patrol car in the only driveway to the parking area, 12 to 24 feet directly in front of Snyder's car. The lot was also illuminated, so there was no evidence Snyder did not know Larson was an officer. R. 28, p. 4. He, in full uniform and shining his flashlight, walked from his driver side door (which would be on Snyder's passenger side) across the intervening distance to

Snyder's driver side door, placing him for most of the walk directly in the path where Snyder would need to turn to drive around the patrol car. He could not remember if Snyder lowered the window in acquiescence to police authority, and it was the State's burden to establish any facts that did not establish the officer's show of authority. The State's evidence was vague. It is most reasonable to assume the window was down at the officer's request, as there was a very detailed conversation between the officer and defendant, and the officer claimed to smell intoxicants. He then demanded an explanation from Snyder as to what he was doing there. A reasonable person would not believe he was free to leave under these circumstances.

IV. Even if Trooper Larson's initial conduct did not qualify as a seizure, he lacked reasonable suspicion to expand his contact with Snyder into an OWI investigation.

Police officers are not permitted to make Fourth Amendment seizures, including traffic stops, on the basis of a hunch. A hunch is not reasonable suspicion, and it does not authorize any level of police seizure whatsoever – not even a *Terry* stop. *State v. Guy*, 172 Wis. 2d 86, 95, 492 N.W.2d 311. After Trooper Larson approached Snyder's car and demanded to know what he was doing, he asked Snyder to step out of the car and perform field sobriety tests based

only on "some" slurred speech, bloodshot eyes, and the scent of alcohol. R. 28, p. 9. He observed no traffic violations. R. 28, p. 12. He did not ask Snyder if he had been drinking. R. 28, p. 15. There was no testimony indicating if he had even heard Snyder speak before or what relevance "some" slurred speech or bloodshot eyes had. The officer admitted that nothing about the conversation lead him to believe Snyder was intoxicated. He said he got him out of the car to ask about his drinking. A reasonable officer would have done that while still in the car.

The odor of intoxicants is not enough to give rise to a reasonable suspicion of OWI. To be guilty of OWI, a driver must have a blood alcohol concentration over the legal limits. *See* Wis. Stat. § 340.01(46m); Wis. Stat. § 346.63. Because operating a vehicle with a blood alcohol concentration below the prescribed limits is legal the odor of intoxicants alone is insufficient to constitute reasonable suspicion for OWI, because such a holding would permit involuntary detention of persons engaging in a legal activity with nothing more.

In *State v. Swanson*, the Supreme Court found that police had reasonable suspicion for OWI and for reckless endangerment where the defendant, at bar time, drove his vehicle on to the sidewalk,

nearly hitting a pedestrian. 164 Wis. 2d 437, 475 N.W.2d 148, 155, fn. 6 (1991), abrogated on other grounds by State v. Sykes, 279 Wis. 2d 742, 695 N.W.2d 277 (2005). When the police confronted the driver, they detected the odor of alcohol. The court held that the erratic driving, the odor of alcohol, and the time of the incident added up to reasonable suspicion but fell short of probable cause. Similarly, in *State v. Seibel*, the police officer had reasonable suspicion but not probable cause. 163 Wis. 2d 164, 471 N.W.2d 226 (1991). Seibel involved a fatal motorcycle accident where the motorcyclist crossed the center line and struck a car head on. At the hospital, the officer observed the smell of intoxicants on the motorcyclist's breath and on the breath of the other bikers. The motorcyclist was belligerent at the hospital. Swanson and Seibel both concern incidents where the police only had reasonable suspicion, despite reckless or fatal behavior by the defendants. Even with Swanson's driving on the sidewalk and Seibel's fatal crossing of the center line, both of which are the type of behavior that tend to show that the driver's ability to operate a vehicle was impaired, their conduct did not give rise to probable cause for OWI, only reasonable suspicion; and what this officer noted here was far less than in those

cases at the point he started investigating for operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant.

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